



DETECTION TIMES FOR EQUINE MEDICATIONS

Data from The Pharmacokinetics of Equine Medications research report (RIRDC Pub. No. 11/117)



Pocket guide November 2013

IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND DISCLAIMER

This information is based on a series of studies in which each drug was administered to a limited number of horses. The data should not be regarded as absolute for every horse to which these substances are administered, nor does it apply to routes of administration or dosages other than those specified. Formulation differences exist between drugs of different companies and may also affect the pharmacokinetics of a drug. Screening limits are those approved by the Australian Racing Board as of July 2013.

You must not rely on any information contained in this fact sheet without taking specialist advice relevant to your circumstances. While reasonable care has been taken in preparing this fact sheet to ensure that information is true and correct, the Commonwealth of Australia gives no assurance as to its accuracy. The Commonwealth of Australia, the Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (RIRDC), the authors (ETRA) or contributors expressly disclaim, to the maximum extent permitted by law, all responsibility and liability to any person, arising directly or indirectly from any act or omission, or for any consequences of any such act of omission, made in reliance on the contents of this publication, whether or not caused by any negligence on the part of the Commonwealth of Australia, RIRDC, the authors or contributors. The Commonwealth of Australia does not necessarily endorse the views in this publication.

RIRDC and ETRA are of the view that you should not administer a therapeutic drug to a horse without guidance of a relevant specialist.



CONTENTS

| Acepromazine |
|-----------------------|
| Buscopan Compositum |
| Butorphanol |
| Detomidine |
| Dexamethasone10 |
| Flunixin12 |
| Ketoprofen12 |
| Lignocaine10 |
| Mepivacaine18 |
| Methylprednisolone20 |
| Phenylbutazone |
| Prednisolone24 |
| Prilocaine20 |
| Procaine penicillin28 |
| Disclaimer30 |
| Deferences |

ACEPROMAZINE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

3 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 10 ng/mL of the 2-(1-hydroxyethyl) promazine sulfoxide metabolite.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts;
- The excretion rate of acepromazine was found to show marked variation between horses:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



ACP 10 injection (Delvet Pty Ltd)

Active ingredients: acepromazine maleate 13.5 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg/mL acepromazine)

Other proprietary names

Acemay Injection; Acepril 10

Classification

Phenothiazine tranquilizer (S4)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

3 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.045 to 0.063 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

 $12 \ (median \ body \ weight \ 551 \ kg, \ range \ 474 \ to \ 670 \ kg)$

BUSCOPAN COMPOSITUM

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

3 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 1000 ng/mL of the 4-methylaminoantipyrine metabolite of dipyrone, and a screening limit in urine of 25 ng/mL for hyoscine N- butylbromide (or N-butylscopolammonium).

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts;
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance
 of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time,
 based on the particular circumstances of drug administration
 and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Buscopan Compositum (Boehringer Ingelheim Pty Ltd)

Active ingredients: hyoscine N-butylbromide (N-butylhyoscine bromide; scopolamine N-butylbromide; N-butylscopolamine bromide) 4 mg/mL; dipyrone 500 mg/mL

Other proprietary names

Ilium Spasmogesic

Classification

Hyoscine N-butylbromide: anticholinergic spasmolytic agent

Dipyrone: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) (S4)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

30 mL/horse

- equivalent to 0.2 to 0.27 mg/kg hyoscine N-butylbromide and
- 26 to 33 mg/kg dipyrone

Number of horses studied

 $12\ (median\ body\ weight\ 514\ kg,\ range\ 448\ to\ 588\ kg)$

BUTORPHANOL

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

4 DAYS

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts;
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance
 of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time,
 based on the particular circumstances of drug administration
 and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Torbugesic (Fort Dodge)

Active ingredients: butorphanol tartrate 10 mg/mL (equivalent to 6.9 mg/mL butorphanol)

Other proprietary names

Butomidor Injection; Dolorex; Butorgesic Injection

Classification

Narcotic analgesic (S8)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

2 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.03 to 0.05 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 497 kg, range 430 to 590 kg)

DETOMIDINE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

48 HOURS, based on a screening limit in urine of 2 ng/mL for the 3'-hydroxydetomidine metabolite.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts;
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Dormosedan (Novartis Animal Health Australasia Pty Ltd)

Active ingredients: detomidine hydrochloride 10~mg/mL (equivalent to 8.4~mg/mL detomidine)

Other proprietary names

Calmant Injection; Detomo Vet; Dozadine Injection; Equisedan Vet Solution for Injection

Classification

α₂-adrenoreceptor agonist (S4)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

2.1 to 2.8 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.04 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 599.5 kg, range 536 to 690 kg)

DEXAMETHASONE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

3 DAYS

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Ilium Dexapent (Troy Laboratories)

Active ingredients: dexamethasone sodium phosphate 5 mg/mL (equivalent to 3.8 mg/mL dexamethasone)

Other proprietary names

Dexone-5, Dexol-5, Dexaphos 5

Classification

Corticosteroid (S4)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

5 to 7.5 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.06 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

11 (median body weight 538 kg, range 423 to 620 kg)

FLUNIXIN

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

3 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 100 ng/mL for flunixin.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance
 of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time,
 based on the particular circumstances of drug administration
 and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Flunix (Bomac)

Active ingredients: flunixin meglumine 50 mg/mL (equivalent to 30.1 mg/mL flunixin)

Other proprietary names

Flumav; Ilium Flunixil; Flunixon; Fluximine Injection, Finadyne Solution

Classification

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) (S4)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

9 to 11.5 mL/horse (equivalent to 1.1 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 486 kg, range 409 to 526 kg)

KETOPROFEN

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

3 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 100 ng/mL for ketoprofen.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Ileum Ketoprofen Injection (Troy Laboratories)

Active ingredients: ketoprofen 100 mg/mL

Other proprietary names

Ketoprofen Injection; Key Injection

Classification

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) (S4)

Route of administration

Intravenous (single administration)

Dose

10 mL/horse (equivalent to 1.76 to 2.29 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

 $12 \ (median \ body \ weight \ 480 \ kg, \ range \ 437 \ to \ 567 \ kg)$

LIGNOCAINE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

3 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 10 ng/mL for the 3'-hydroxylignocaine metabolite.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Ilium Lignocaine 20 (Troy Laboratories)

Active ingredients: lignocaine hydrochloride (lidocaine hydrochloride) 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 17.3 mg/mL lignocaine)

Other proprietary names

Lignocaine 20; Lignomav

Classification

Local anaesthetic (S4)

Route of administration

Subcutaneous (single administration)

Dose

17 to 22.2 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.8 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 502 kg, range 424 to 554 kg)

MEPIVACAINE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

MAY EXCEED 4 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 10 ng/mL for the 3'hydroxymepivacaine metabolite.

- In this study the pharmacokinetics of mepivacaine were non-linear and excretion times were highly variable, therefore, mepivacaine is NOT recommended for use close to competition;
- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts;
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance
 of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time,
 based on the particular circumstances of drug administration
 and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Mepivacaine (Nature Vet)

Active ingredients: mepivacaine hydrochloride 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 17.4 mg/mL mepivacaine)

Other proprietary names

Vetacaine

Classification

Local anaesthetic (S4)

Route of administration

Subcutaneous (single administration)

Dose

20 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.68 to 0.99 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 488 kg, range 405 to 593 kg)

METHYLPREDNISOLONE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

GREATER THAN 45 DAYS in some horses based on the screening of urine for methylprednisolone.

- The excretion of this depot compound is prolonged and erratic, therefore this preparation is NOT recommended for use close to competition;
- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts;
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance
 of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time,
 based on the particular circumstances of drug administration
 and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Depo-Medrol (Pfizer Animal Health)

Active ingredients: methylprednisolone acetate (MPA) 20 mg/mL

Other proprietary names

Ilium Depredil

Classification

Corticosteroid (S4)

Route of administration

Intramuscular (single administration)

Dose

10 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.39 to 0.47 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 453.5 kg, range 424 to 515 kg)

PHENYLBUTAZONE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

5 DAYS, based on a screening limit in urine of 100 ng/mL for phenylbutazone.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Bute Paste (Ranvet)

Active ingredients: phenylbutazone 200 mg/mL

Other proprietary names

Butin Antiinflammatory Oral Paste; P-Butazone Paste

Classification

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) (S4)

Route of administration

Oral (6 day course)

Dose

10 mL twice on the first day, then 5 mL twice daily for 4 consecutive days, then 5 mL once on day 6 (equivalent to 3.1 to 3.9 mg/kg twice on the first day, then 1.5 to 2.0 mg/kg twice daily for 4 days, then 1.5 to 2.0 mg/kg once on day 6)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 562 kg, range 508 to 654 kg)

PREDNISOLONE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

48 HOURS, based on the screening of urine for prednisolone.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Preddy Granules (Vetsearch International)

Active ingredients: prednisolone 200 mg/5g sachet

Other proprietary names

Macrolone granules

Classification

Corticosteroid (S4)

Route of administration

Oral (5 day course)

Dose

1 g/day for 5 consecutive days (equivalent to 1.72 to 2.28 mg/kg/day)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 505 kg, range 439 to 583 kg)

PRILOCAINE

Use in competition horses

Period of detection in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

48 HOURS, based on the screening of urine for prilocaine and its metabolites.

- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here is provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.



Prilocaine 2% (Delvet Pty Ltd)

Active ingredients: prilocaine hydrochloride 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 17.2 mg/mL prilocaine)

Other proprietary names

Prilocaine Injection

Classification

Local anaesthetic (S4)

Route of administration

Subcutaneous (single administration)

Dose

20 mL/horse (equivalent to 0.60 to 0.84 mg/kg)

Number of horses studied

12 (median body weight 551 kg, range 478 to 666 kg)

PROCAINE PENICILLIN

Use in competition horses

Period of detection of procaine in urine (including metabolites, isomers and/or artefacts):

9 DAYS after the single dose.

14 DAYS* after the completion of the 6-day course.

- *The clearance of procaine after multiple intramuscular injections of procaine penicillin is likely to be prolonged and unpredictable
- For competition horses, forensic tests may be performed using plasma or urine to measure the parent drug, metabolites, isomers and/or arrefacts:
- Different formulations of this compound from different manufacturers may be excreted differently;
- The detection time specified here provided for the guidance of veterinarians to estimate an appropriate withholding time, based on the particular circumstances of drug administration and the addition of a suitable safety margin.
- Note that detection times for the repeated administration study showed high variability among horses. Therefore, extreme caution is recommended when estimating withholding times.



Ilium Propercillin (Troy Laboratories)

Active ingredients: procaine penicillin 300 mg/mL (equivalent to 120 mg/mL procaine)

Other proprietary names

Bomacillin; Norocillin; Depocillin

Classification

Antibiotic (S4)

Route of administration

Intramuscular

Dose

Single administration (Study 1): 20 to 25 mL per horse (equivalent to 12 mg/kg)

Repeated administration (Study 2): 19.5 to 24 mL per horse (equivalent to 12 mg/kg/dose) provided as 10 doses as follows - once on day 1, twice per day on days 2 to 5, then once on day 6

Number of horses studied

Single administration: 12

(median body weight 545 kg, range 492 to 628 kg)

Repeated administration: 12

(median body weight 544 kg, range 486 to 604 kg)

Equine Therapeutics Research Australia (ETRA)

RIRDC has collaborated with several key industry bodies to sponsor a research consortium – *Equine Therapeutics Research Australia* (ETRA) – to provide more accurate information about the pharmacokinetics of equine medications. Four Universities, four Australian horseracing forensic laboratories and *Equine Veterinarians Australia* together identified the 18 most important drugs. After administration to a number of horses, the concentration of these drugs was measured in blood plasma and urine. The information in this fact sheet is based on this research and is provided for the guidance of equine veterinarians.

Acknowledgement

The ETRA group acknowledges the generous financial support of RIRDC and their industry sponsors, which made this research possible.

Screening limits

Along with most other international racing jurisdictions, the Australian Racing Board has approved the development of formal screening limits for certain therapeutic substances. The screening limit is the concentration of a particular therapeutic substance (or its metabolite) in urine or plasma above which the racing laboratory will call the sample positive. Their adoption is facilitated by the introduction of Rule AR.178EA found in the Rules of Racing which can be found on the Australian Racing Board website – www.australianracingboard.com.au/rules

Contributing authors

Martin Sillence, Glenys Noble, Fiona Schneiders, Wayne Bryden, Judy Cawdell-Smith, Melody de Laat, Heidi Austin, Mark Jarrett, Bruce Young, Andrew McKinney, Adam Cawley, Jessica Booth, John Vine, Linda Glowacki, James McGree, Ray Boston, Samantha Nelis, Carl Kirkpatrick, Nick Shaw, and Barry Smyth



REFERENCES

M. Sillence, G. Noble, F. Schneiders, W. Bryden, J. Cawdell-Smith, M. de Laat, M. Jarrett, B. Young, A. McKinney, A. Cawley, J. Booth, J. Vine, L. Glowacki, J. McGree, R. Boston, S. Nelis, C. Kirkpatrick, N. Shaw and B. Smyth (2012). The pharmacokinetics of equine medications. Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (RIRDC), Barton ACT. Publication 11/117.

Acepromazine

J.M. McGree, G. Noble, F. Schneiders, A.J. Dunstan, A.R. McKinney, R. Boston and M. Sillence (2013). A Bayesian approach for estimating detection times in horses: Exploring the pharmacokinetics of a urinary acepromazine metabolite. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 36(1):31-42.

F.I. Schneiders, G.K. Noble, R.C. Boston, A.J. Dunstan, M.N. Sillence and A.R. McKinney (2012). Acepromazine Pharmacokinetics: A Forensic Perspective. The Veterinary Journal 194(1):48-54.

Buscopan

N. Gomaa, A. Uhlig and G.F. Schusser 2011. Effect of Buscopan compositum on the motility of the duodenum, cecum and left ventral colon in healthy conscious horses. Berliner und Munchener Tierarztliche Wochenschrift 124, 168-174.

Butorphanol

M.G. Arguedas, M.T. Hines, M.G. Papich, K.D. Farnsworth and D.C. Sellon (2008). Pharmacokinetics of butorphanol and evaluation of physiologic and behavioral effects after intravenous and intramuscular administration to neonatal foals. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine Med 22, 1417-1426.

D.C. Sellon, V.L. Monroe, M.C. Roberts and M.G. Papich. (2001).

Pharmacokinetics and adverse effects of butorphanol administered by single intravenous injection or continuous intravenous infusion in horses. American Journal of Veterinary Research 62, 183-189.

D.C. Sellon, M.G. Papich, L. Palmer and B. Remund (2009).

Pharmacokinetics of butorphanol in horses after intramuscular injection.

Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 32, 62-65.

Detomidine

K.N. Grimsrud, K.R. Mama, S.M. Thomasy and S.D. Stanley 2009. Pharmacokinetics of detomidine and its metabolites following intravenous and intramuscular administration in horses. Equine Veterinary Journal 41, 361-365.

J.A.E. Hubbell, R.A. Sams, L.M. Schmall, J.T. Robertson, K.W. Hinchcliff and W.W. Muir 2009. Pharmacokinetics of detomidine administered to horses at rest and after maximal exercise. Equine Veterinary Journal 41, 419-422.

Dexamethasone

J.A. Grady, E.G. Davis, B. Kukanich and A.B. Sherck 2010. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of dexamethasone after oral administration in apparently healthy horses. American Journal of Veterinary Research 71, 831-839.

Flunixin

A. Pellegrini-Masini, R.H. Poppenga and R.W. Sweeney 2004. Disposition of flunixin meglumine injectable preparation administered orally to healthy horses. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 27, 183-186.

Ketoprofen

P. Brink, F. DeGraves, W.R. Ravis, D. Johansen, J.D. Campbell and S.H. Duran 1998. Stereospecific pharmacokinetics of free and protein-bound ketoprofen in serum and synovial fluid of horses after intravenous and intramuscular administration. American Journal of Veterinary Research 59, 739-743.

P. Jaussaud, C. Bellon, S. Besse, D. Courtot and P. Delatour 1993. Enantioselective pharmacokinetics of ketoprofen in horses. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 16, 373-376.



Lignocaine

E.J. Dickey, H.C. McKenzie 3rd, K.A. Brown and C.N. de Solis 2008. Serum concentrations of lidocaine and its metabolites after prolonged infusion in healthy horses. Equine Veterinary Journal 40, 348-352.

J. Kristinsson, T.H. Thordarson and T. Johannesson 1996. Pharmacokinetics of lignocaine in Icelandic horses after infiltration anaesthesia. Veterinary Record 138. 111-112.

Mepivacaine

J.D. Harkins, W. Karpiesiuk, W.E. Woods, A. Lehner, G.D. Mundy, W.A. Rees, L. Dirikolu, S. Bass, W.G Carter, J. Boyles and T. Tobin 1999. Mepivacaine: its pharmacological effects and their relationship to analytical findings in the horse. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 22, 107-121.

Methylprednisolone

L.R. Soma, C.E. Uboh, Y. Luo, F. Guan, P.J. Moate and R.C. Boston 2006. Pharmacokinetics of methylprednisolone acetate after intra-articular administration and its effect on endogenous hydrocortisone and cortisone secretion in horses. American Journal of Veterinary Research 67, 654-662.

Phenylbutazone

E.C. Authie, P. Garcia, M.A. Popot, P.L. Toutain and M. Doucet 2010. Effect of an endurance-like exercise on the disposition and detection time of phenylbutazone and dexamethasone in the horse: application to medication control. Equine Veterinary Journal 42, 240-247.

P. Lees, J.B. Taylor, T.E. Maitho, J.D. Millar and A.J. Higgins 1987. Metabolism, excretion, pharmacokinetics and tissue residues of phenylbutazone in the horse. Cornell Vet 77, 192-211.

Prednisolone

C.L. Chen, J. Goldberg and R.R. Gronwall 1995. Pharmacokinetics of intravenously administration of prednisolone in the horse as determined by radioimmunoassay. Chinese Journal of Physiology 38, 1-6.

P.L. Toutain, R.A. Brandon, H. de Pomyers, M. Alvinerie and J.D. Baggot 1984. Dexamethasone and prednisolone in the horse: pharmacokinetics and action on the adrenal gland. American Journal of Veterinary Research 45, 1750-1756.

Prilocaine

L.L. Glowacki, R. Dowarkasing, A. Moon-Borton, F.I. Schneiders, G.K. Noble, M.N. Sillence and J.H. Vine 2010. The metabolism and excretion of prilocaine in the horse after subcutaneous administration. Proceedings of the 18th International Conference of Racing Analysts and Veterinarians, March 2010, Queenstown NZ.

Procaine penicillin

C.E. Uboh, L.R. Soma, Y. Luo, E. McNamara, M.A. Fennell, L. May, D.C. Teleis, J.A. Rudy and A.O. Watson 2000. Pharmacokinetics of penicillin G procaine versus penicillin G potassium and procaine hydrochloride in horses. American Journal of Veterinary Research 61, 811-815.



Contact for further information:

Professor Martin Sillence Science and Engineering Faculty Queensland University of Technology

Phone: 07 3138 2565

Email: martin.sillence@qut.edu.au

RIRDC Pub. No. 13/038





 Phone:
 02 6271 4100

 Fax:
 02 6271 4199

 Bookshop:
 1300 634 313

Email: rirdc@rirdc.gov.au

PO Box 4776, Kingston ACT 2604

Street Address: Level 2, 15 National Circuit,

Barton ACT 2600

www.rirdc.gov.au

Postal Address: